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To my wife and children, who have stood by me, supported me, and loved me as the events in this story unfolded. I know it hasn’t been easy, but I’m eternally grateful to each of you.










Author’s Note


This is a true story that will surely offend some very powerful and dangerous people. In order to protect the innocent, some names, locations, and details have been changed.











Freezing Order: A legal procedure that prevents a defendant from moving their assets beyond the reach of a court.













– 1 – The Madrid Arrest



SPRING 2018


Madrid was uncharacteristically cool for the end of spring. I’d flown in for a meeting with José Grinda, Spain’s top anti-corruption prosecutor. I was there to share evidence about how dirty money connected to the murder of my Russian lawyer, Sergei Magnitsky, had been used to purchase luxury properties along Spain’s Costa del Sol. The meeting was scheduled for 11:00 a.m. the following morning, which in Spain counts as an early meeting.


When I arrived at my hotel that evening, the manager scurried over to the check-in desk and ushered the clerk aside. “Mr. Browder?” he asked. I nodded. “Welcome to the Gran Hotel Inglés. We have a very special surprise for you!”


I stay at a lot of hotels. Managers don’t typically have surprises for me. “What’s that?” I asked.


“You will see. I will accompany you to your room.” He spoke in careful English. “Could you please give me your passport and credit card?” I handed them over. He scanned my passport and fed the credit card—a Black American Express Card to which I’d recently been upgraded—into a chip reader. He handed me a room key with both hands cupped in a vaguely Japanese manner and stepped from behind the counter. Holding out his arm, he said, “Please. After you.”


I walked to the elevator, the manager following directly behind. We rode to the top floor.


He stepped aside when the doors opened, making room for me to exit first, but once we were in the hall he shuffled past me, stopping in front of a white door. He fumbled briefly with his master key, and then opened the room. I peered inside. I’d been upgraded to the presidential suite. I was pretty sure this wasn’t because of who I was, but because of this new American Express card. I’d always wondered what the fuss was with these things. Now I knew.


“Wow,” I said.


I walked through the foyer and into a white living room decorated with tasteful modern furniture. On a low table was a spread of Spanish cheeses, Ibérico ham, and fruit. The manager talked about what an honor it was to have me as a guest, even though I doubted he knew anything about me beyond which credit card I carried.


He followed me around the suite, seeking my approval. There was a dining room, its table laid out with pastries, chocolates, and champagne on ice; then came the reading room, with a small private library; then a lounge with a glass-topped bar; then a little office with subdued lighting; and finally, the bedroom, which had a freestanding bathtub tucked under a high window.


I had to suppress laughter. Of course, I loved the room—who wouldn’t?—but I was in Madrid on a one-night business trip. It would have taken half a dozen people to eat all the food they had laid out. Moreover, if the manager had known the nature of my visit—talking to law enforcement officials about the sort of Russian gangsters who often booked suites like this—he probably wouldn’t have been so enthusiastic. Still, I wasn’t going to be rude. When we circled back to the foyer, I nodded appreciatively. “It’s very nice,” I said. “Thank you.”


As soon as he was gone, I called Elena, my wife, who was at home in London with our four children. I told her all about the room, how extravagant and ridiculous it was, and how I wished she were with me.


After our call, I changed into jeans and a light sweater before heading out for an evening walk through the streets of Madrid, mentally preparing for my meeting with José Grinda the next day. Eventually, though, I got lost in the maze-like streets and squares, and had to hail a cab to take me back to the hotel.


The following morning was bright and sunny. Unlike the previous day, it was going to be hot.


At around 8:15 a.m. I checked my papers and business cards and opened the door to go downstairs for breakfast.


I stopped short.


The manager stood on the landing, hand raised in mid-knock.


On each side of him was a uniformed police officer. The patches on their crisp, navy shirts read, POLICIA NACIONAL.


“Apologies, Mr. Browder,” the manager said, glancing at the floor. “But these men need to see your identification.”


I handed my British passport to the larger of the two stone-faced officers. He studied it, comparing it to a piece of paper in his other hand. He then spoke to the manager in Spanish, which I don’t understand.


The manager translated. “I’m sorry, Mr. Browder, but you must go with these men.”


“What for?” I asked, looking past the manager.


He turned to the larger officer and rattled off something in Spanish.


The officer, staring directly at me, stated, “Interpol. Russia.”


Fuck.


The Russians had been trying to have me arrested for years, and now it was finally happening.


You notice odd things when adrenaline hits you. I noticed there was a light out at the far end of the hall, and that there was a small stain on the manager’s lapel. I also noticed that the manager didn’t look so much contrite as concerned. I could tell this wasn’t for me. What concerned him was that his presidential suite would be unavailable so long as it contained my belongings. He wanted my things out as soon as possible.


He spoke quickly to the officers, and then said, “These gentlemen will give you a few moments to pack.”


I hurried through the series of rooms to the bedroom, leaving the officers waiting in the entryway. I suddenly realized I was alone and had an opportunity. If I’d thought the room upgrade was frivolous before, now it was a godsend.


I called Elena. But she didn’t answer.


I then called Ruperto, my Spanish lawyer who’d arranged the meeting with Prosecutor Grinda. No answer there, either.


As I rushed to pack, I remembered something Elena had said to me after I’d been detained at Geneva Airport that February. “If something like this ever happens again,” she said, “and you can’t reach anyone, post it on Twitter.” I’d started using Twitter a couple of years earlier, and now had some 135,000 followers, many of them journalists, government officials, and politicians from around the world.


I followed her instructions, tweeting: “Urgent: Just was arrested by Spanish police in Madrid on a Russian Interpol arrest warrant. Going to the police station right now.”


I grabbed my bag and returned to the two waiting officers. I expected to be formally arrested, but they didn’t behave like cops in the movies. They didn’t cuff me, frisk me, or take my things. They just told me to follow them.


We went downstairs, not a word passing between us. The officers stood behind me while I paid the bill. Other guests gawked as they filtered through the lobby.


The manager, back behind the desk, broke the silence. “Do you want to leave your bag with us, Mr. Browder, while these men take you to the police station? I’m sure this will be sorted out quickly.”


Knowing what I did about Putin and Russia, I was sure it wouldn’t be. “I’ll keep my things, thank you,” I responded.


I turned to the officers, who sandwiched me front and back. They led me outside to their small Peugeot police car. One took my bag and put it in the trunk; the other pushed me into the back seat.


The door slammed shut.


A partition of thick Plexiglas separated me from the officers. The back seat was hard plastic like a stadium seat. There were no door handles and no way to open the windows. The interior was tinged with the odors of sweat and urine. The driver started the car while the other officer turned on the lights and sirens. We were off.


As soon as the car’s sirens started blaring, I was struck by a terrifying thought. What if these people weren’t police officers? What if they’d somehow obtained uniforms and a police car and were impersonating police officers?


What if, instead of driving me to the police station, they drove me to an airstrip, put me on a private plane, and whisked me off to Moscow?


This was not just a paranoid fantasy. I had been subjected to dozens of death threats, and had even been warned several years earlier by a US government official that an extrajudicial rendition was being planned for me.


My heart pounded. How was I going to get out of this? I began to worry that the people who’d seen my tweet might not believe it. They might have thought my account had been hacked, or that the tweet was some kind of joke.


Thankfully, the police officers—or whoever they were—hadn’t taken my phone.


I pulled my mobile out of my jacket pocket and surreptitiously snapped a picture through the Plexiglas, capturing the backs of the officers’ heads and their police radio mounted on the dashboard. I tweeted the image out immediately.


If anyone doubted my arrest before, they certainly weren’t now.
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My phone was on silent, but within seconds it lit up. Calls started coming in from journalists everywhere. I couldn’t answer any of them, but then my Spanish lawyer called. I had to let him know what was going on, so I ducked behind the partition and cupped my hand over the phone.


“I’ve been arrested,” I whispered. “I’m in a squad car.”


The officers heard me. The driver jerked the car to the side of the road. Both men jumped out. My door opened, and the larger officer hauled me onto the street. He aggressively patted me down and confiscated both of my phones.


“No phones!” the smaller officer shouted. “Under arrest!”


“Lawyer,” I said to him.


“No lawyer!”


The larger one then pushed me back into the car and slammed the door. We took off again, coursing through the streets of old Madrid.


No lawyer? What the hell did that mean? This was an EU country. I was sure I had the right to a lawyer.


I scanned the streets outside, looking for any sign of a police station. None. I tried to convince myself: I’m not being kidnapped. I’m not being kidnapped. I’m not being kidnapped. But of course, this could easily be a kidnapping.


We made a sharp turn and suddenly got stuck behind a double-parked moving truck. As the car idled, I panicked and desperately looked for a way out. But there was none.


The truck driver eventually emerged from a nearby building, saw the police car’s flashing lights, and moved his vehicle out of the way. We continued to snake through the narrow streets for more than 15 minutes. Finally, we slowed as we came to an empty square.


We rocked to a halt in front of a nondescript office building. There were no people and no signs that this was a police station. The officers exited the car and, standing side by side, ordered me out.


“What are we doing here?” I asked as I stood.


“Medical exam,” the smaller officer shouted.


Medical exam? I’d never heard of a medical exam when being arrested.


Cool sweat gathered on my palms. The hairs on my neck tingled.


There was no way I would willingly enter an unmarked building to submit to an exam of any kind. If this were a kidnapping, and I was starting to believe it was, I could picture what was in there: a bright-white office with a steel gurney, a little table with an assortment of syringes, and Russian men in cheap suits. Once inside, I’d be injected with something. The next thing I knew, I’d wake up in a Moscow prison. My life would be over.


“No medical exam!” I said forcefully. I clenched my fists as the fight-or-flight instinct took hold. I hadn’t been in a fistfight since ninth grade, when I was the smallest kid at a boarding school in Steamboat Springs, Colorado, but I was suddenly ready for a physical confrontation with these men if that meant avoiding being kidnapped.


But at that moment, something shifted in their demeanor. One officer stepped very close to me while the other made a frantic call on his cell phone. He spoke into the phone for a couple of minutes and, after hanging up, typed something. He showed it to me. Google Translate. It read, “Medical exams standard protocol.”


“Bullshit. I want my lawyer. Now!”


The one next to me repeated flatly, “No lawyer.”


I leaned against the car and planted my feet in front of me. The one with the phone made another call and then blurted something in Spanish. Before I knew it, the car door was opened and I was shoved back inside.


They put on the lights and sirens again. We drove out of the square in a different direction. We were soon stuck in traffic again, this time in front of the Royal Palace, among a throng of tour buses and schoolchildren. I was either being kidnapped or arrested, but the world outside was oblivious, enjoying a day of sightseeing.


Ten minutes later, we pulled onto a narrow street lined with police cars. A dark blue sign reading POLICIA stuck out from the side of a weathered stone-and-redbrick building.


These officers were real police. I was in a proper European legal system and not in the hands of Russian kidnappers. If nothing else, I would be afforded due process before any possibility of being extradited to Moscow.


The officers pulled me from the car and marched me inside. There was a palpable air of excitement in the station. From their perspective, they’d successfully tracked down and arrested an international fugitive wanted by Interpol, which probably didn’t happen every day at this little police station in central Madrid.


They dropped me in the processing room and put my suitcase in the corner. My phones were placed facedown on top of a desk. One of the arresting officers ordered me not to touch anything. It was difficult. My phones buzzed and glowed with messages, tweets, and unanswered calls. I was relieved to see that my situation was getting so much attention.


As I sat there alone, the gravity of the situation swept over me. I may not have been kidnapped, but I was now in the Spanish criminal justice system on a Russian arrest warrant. I’d been bracing for a moment exactly like this for years. It had been drilled into me how this process would work. The arresting country would call up Moscow and say, “We’ve got your fugitive. What do you want us to do with him?” Russia would respond, “Extradite him.” Russia would have 45 days to file a formal extradition request. I would then have 30 days to respond, and the Russians would have another 30 days to respond to my response.


With the inevitable delays, I was looking at a minimum of six months of sitting in a sweltering Spanish jail before I was either released or sent to Russia.


I thought of my 12-year-old daughter, Jessica. Only a week before, I’d taken her on a long-promised father-daughter trip to England’s Cotswolds. I thought of my 10-year-old daughter, Veronica, whom I had promised a similar trip, but who might now have to wait a very long time. I thought about my eldest child, David, a junior at Stanford who was already making a life for himself. He’d dealt with all my Russian troubles so well, but I was sure he was following this ordeal on Twitter, overcome with worry.


I thought of my wife, and of what she must have been feeling at that moment.


Twenty long minutes later, a young woman entered the room and sat beside me. “I’m the translator,” she said in English bearing no Spanish accent.


“When can I speak to my lawyer?” I demanded.


“I’m sorry, I’m just the translator. I only wanted to introduce myself.” She got up and left. She didn’t even say her name.


Ten more minutes crept by before she returned with a senior-looking police officer. He stood over me and presented my charge sheet in English. Under EU law, anyone who’s been arrested must be presented with the charges in their native language.


I bent over the sheet of paper. It was all boilerplate except for a little space for whatever alleged crimes I’d committed. The only word there was “Fraud.” Nothing else.


I leaned back. The wooden chair creaked. I eyed the officer and translator. They expected some kind of reaction, but the Russians had been accusing me of much more serious crimes for such a long time that the sole accusation of “fraud” had almost no impact. I was surprised they’d opened so low.


Once again, I asked if I could speak to my lawyer. The translator replied, “In due course.”


At that moment, a commotion erupted in the hallway. An officer I hadn’t seen before burst into an adjacent room packed with people in uniform. The door slammed. The officer and translator who were with me looked at each other and then disappeared, leaving me alone again.


Five minutes later, the door leading to the room full of officers opened. People spilled out. I called for the translator, who ducked into my room. “What’s going on?” I pleaded. She ignored me and left.


A few minutes later, the senior officer who’d presented the charge sheet re-entered the room, translator in tow, both with heads bowed. He said something to her in Spanish, and then she turned to me and said, “Mr. Browder, the Interpol general secretariat in Lyon has just sent us a message. They’ve ordered us to release you. The warrant is invalid.”


My spirits soared. My phone buzzed. I stood. “Can I use my phone now?”


“Sí.” No translation necessary.


I snatched up the charge sheet along with my phones. I had 178 missed calls. There was a message from the British foreign secretary, Boris Johnson, asking me to call as soon as possible. Every news outlet—ABC, Sky News, the BBC, CNN, Time, the Washington Post—all of them wanted to know what was going on. Same with Elena, David, and friends from all around the world, including several in Russia. I texted Elena that I was fine and would call her soon. I did the same with David and my colleagues at the office in London.


I strode into the open part of the police station. The mood had swung. They thought they’d caught a modern-day Carlos the Jackal, but now I was going to walk.


At last I was able to get ahold of my Spanish lawyer. While I’d been sitting at the police station, he’d been busy calling everyone he knew in Spanish law enforcement, to no avail.


What saved me was Twitter. My tweets had generated hundreds of phone calls to Interpol and the Spanish authorities, who soon realized the mess they’d waltzed into.


As I left the station, the arresting officers sheepishly stepped in front of me with the translator. “They’d like you to delete the tweet that has their photo in it. Would that be okay?” she asked.


“Will I be breaking any laws if I don’t?” She translated. The officers shrugged. “Then no, I won’t.” The tweet is still there to this day.


They then offered me a ride to my hotel.


I laughed a little. “No, thank you. This whole ordeal has made me forty-five minutes late for a meeting—with José Grinda.”


When they heard his name, all the color drained from their faces. They practically fell over themselves to offer me a ride to Grinda’s office.


I accepted. This time, we rode in a much nicer car.


Less than half an hour later, we pulled up to the prosecutor’s office. I was met in the lobby by Prosecutor Grinda himself. He apologized profusely, mortified that he’d invited me to Madrid to give evidence against Russian criminals only to be arrested by his colleagues on the orders of the same Russian criminals.


He led me to his office, where I told him the story about Sergei Magnitsky, my Russian lawyer, that I’d told so many times before. I explained how, in 2008, Sergei had been taken hostage by corrupt Russian officials and ultimately killed in jail as my proxy. I talked about the people who had murdered Sergei and profited from the $230 million tax rebate fraud he’d exposed. I explained how some of that money had been used to purchase $33 million of property along the Spanish Riviera.


By the glint in Prosecutor Grinda’s eye, I could see that he would take what I was telling him seriously. When our meeting was over, I felt confident that we had gained another ally in the West—and that Putin’s Russia had lost a few more shreds of its tattered credibility.










– 2 – The Flute



1975


How did I end up in such a mess?


It all started with a flute. A sterling silver flute to be exact. One that I received on my 11th birthday. It was a present from my favorite uncle—also named Bill—who was an amateur flutist and a math professor at Princeton.


I loved my flute. I loved the way it looked, the way it felt in my hands. I loved the sounds it made. But I wasn’t all that good at it. Still, I practiced as much as I could, and was able to take the last flute chair in the school orchestra, which held rehearsals three times a week.


School was the Lab School in Hyde Park, on the South Side of Chicago. My family lived in a redbrick townhouse four blocks from the University of Chicago, where, like my uncle, my father was a math professor. At the time, Hyde Park was a rough neighborhood, and the surrounding areas were even worse. As kids, we were taught never to cross 63rd Street to the south, Cottage Grove to the west, or 47th Street to the north. To the east was Lake Michigan. Always concerned about the safety of its professors and their families, the university employed an impressive private police force, and installed security phones on nearly every corner. Combined with the Chicago Police Department (CPD), there were more police per capita in Hyde Park than any other community in the United States.


Because of all this security, my parents let me walk to school on my own every day.


One morning in the spring of 1975, as I was on my way to school, I was approached by three teenagers who were much bigger than me. One of them pointed at the flute case in my left hand and said, “Hey kid, what’s in the case?”


I gripped my flute with both hands. “Nothing.”


“I’m sure it ain’t nothing,” he said, laughing. “Why don’t you let me see what’s inside?”


Before I could respond, another kid grabbed me, while the third went for the flute. I tried to twist away, but it was no use. There were three of them, and I was only 11. Finally, the biggest one grabbed the case and yanked hard, wresting it from my grip. They turned and ran off.


I ran after them for a couple of blocks, but then they disappeared across 63rd Street and I stopped. I jogged to the nearest university police phone and explained what had happened. Within a few minutes, two university police cruisers arrived, and shortly thereafter the CPD showed up as well.


Two Chicago Police officers drove me home, led me to our front door, and rang the bell. My mother answered. “What’s going on?” she asked from the doorway, her eyes darting back and forth between the three of us. I started sobbing.


“Some kids stole his musical instrument, ma’am,” one of the officers said. She thanked them for bringing me home and pulled me inside. As she was closing the door, one of the officers asked if I would be willing to give a statement with a description of the boys.


She didn’t answer right away. I could tell she didn’t want me to. Wiping the tears from my eyes, I insisted. “I want to, Eva.” (My brother and I had the strange habit of calling our parents by their first names.) We went back and forth for a few seconds before she gave in, reluctantly leading the officers to our kitchen table.


I answered their questions while one of them scribbled notes on a small pad. After they left, my mother told me that was the last we’d ever hear from the Chicago Police about my flute.


But a month later, the police called. They’d arrested three boys trying to sell some stolen musical instruments at a pawnshop. They fit the description that I’d given. My flute was long gone, but the police wanted to know if I’d be willing to come to the station to look at a lineup.


My mother didn’t want any trouble, but I was adamant, and a short while later we were in our old Buick Century on the way to the police station.


When we arrived, a young officer led us through a series of dirty hallways to a small, darkened room with a plate glass window looking onto an adjoining room. The policeman explained that we could see the young men on the other side, but they couldn’t see us. “Are any of these boys the ones who stole your flute?” the officer asked.


All three were there, standing with several other kids. One of them was even wearing the same short-sleeved red sweater he’d had on that day.


“Those are them,” I said, pointing at each.


“Are you sure?”


“Yes, completely.” I would never forget their faces.


“Good,” he said, turning toward my mother. “Ma’am, we’d like your son to testify against these individuals.”


“Absolutely not,” she said.


I tugged on her elbow. “No. I do want to.” These kids had done something wrong, and I thought they should pay a price.


Two months later, we drove to the Cook County Juvenile Court, a brand-new building off Roosevelt Road, across the street from Chicago’s FBI field office. The hearing was in a large modern courtroom. The only people there were the three kids, their mothers, the judge, a public defender, the assistant district attorney, and me and my mother.


The three kids behaved like they didn’t have a worry in the world. They were horsing around, and even after the judge began, they continued to whisper and giggle under their breath. However, when the prosecutor asked me to identify them, the joking stopped, and they all glared at me.


They had no real defense. After I explained what had happened, the judge found all three guilty of robbery. But instead of sending them to juvenile detention, the judge gave them each suspended sentences, meaning they wouldn’t serve any time behind bars.


I never got my flute back, and the whole incident kind of turned me off music.


But it did turn me on to something completely different: law enforcement.


From that moment, I became obsessed with everything and anything having to do with the police.


On my daily walk to school I passed a Greek diner called the Agora, on 57th Street. I noticed that it always had Chicago Police cruisers parked out front. I often wondered what they were doing in there.


One day, I mustered the courage to go inside and see for myself. I asked the cashier if I could use the bathroom. She said yes. As I approached the toilets, I spotted two groups of police officers sitting together drinking coffee and looking at sheets of paper showing pictures of terrifying-looking men and women.


On the way back from the bathroom, drying my hands on the front of my pants, I tried to steal another glance at the policemen’s papers. Who were the people in the photos?


When I got home, I scoured my room for loose change, and the next day, on the way home from school, I stopped at the Agora again. This time, I sat at a table next to the policemen, ordered a root beer, and glanced furtively at the sheets of paper.


I was not very smooth. A heavyset middle-aged cop caught me and said sternly, “Hey, you can’t be looking at these. This is classified.”


I stared into my root beer and took a long sip.


The officers erupted in laughter. A different one said, “Come over here, kid.” I was sure I was in trouble.


But instead he said, “Don’t listen to that guy. He’s just joking. You want to take a look?”


I nodded timidly. He showed me something he called that day’s “rap sheet.” One side had license plate numbers of recently stolen cars. The other had mugshots and descriptions of fugitives the Chicago Police were pursuing, along with the crimes they’d allegedly committed. On that day, the rap sheet had two people wanted for murder, one for rape, and two for aggravated assault.


I didn’t know what all that meant exactly, but it sounded dangerous. Exciting, too. Every picture was a window into a terrible story I wanted to know more about.


The friendly officer could see I was interested. “You want it?” he asked. I nodded. “It’s yours. Come back tomorrow if you want more.”


And so I did. I collected another rap sheet. And another and another. By June of that year I had more than a hundred. I was so enthusiastic that one of the officers asked if I wanted to join something called the Chicago Junior Police Patrol.
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Without knowing what it was, I exclaimed, “Yes!”


The following school year, every Thursday afternoon, I would join other kids from the Chicago area for lectures about crime, policing, and careers in law enforcement.


As with other childhood obsessions, my interest fizzled, and, in time, I grew up.


Little did I know that, later on, law enforcement would become a central part of my life.










– 3 – John Moscow



1989–2008


Fourteen years later, I graduated from Stanford Business School. It was 1989, the same year the Berlin Wall came down. Three years after that, I joined the East European desk of the US investment bank Salomon Brothers in London. The opportunities were so great in that part of the world that, in 1996, I moved to Moscow to set up a hedge fund called the Hermitage Fund. I named it after the Hermitage Museum in St. Petersburg, where Russia keeps its most precious art treasures.


Running the fund wasn’t smooth sailing. The companies we invested in were being robbed blind by Russian oligarchs and corrupt officials.


My compatriots in the financial markets blandly accepted this as the cost of doing business in Russia, and nobody said a thing. But I couldn’t accept that a small group of people could steal virtually everything from everybody and get away with it. It felt like my flute, only on a much grander scale.


I decided to fight back. Instead of just focusing on companies’ income statements and balance sheets like normal fund managers, my team and I would research how money was being stolen, how the thieves were doing the stealing, and who pocketed the stolen money. We would then use this information to file lawsuits, launch proxy fights, and brief government ministers on the damage this was doing to their country.


This activism had some impact, but our most effective weapon was to air this dirty laundry with the international media.


I didn’t have to put a complete stop to the stealing, I just needed to create enough pressure for marginal change. The share prices of the companies were so undervalued that any improvement would push up their valuations dramatically.


This naming-and-shaming approach turned out to be remarkably profitable, and the Hermitage Fund became one of the best performing funds in the world. At the height of my career, I was responsible for $4.5 billion invested in Russian equities.


But, of course, exposing corrupt oligarchs didn’t make me very popular in Russia. And in time, my actions led to a cascade of disastrous consequences.


In November 2005, Putin declared me a threat to national security and expelled me from Russia. In order to protect my clients’ assets, my team liquidated the fund’s holdings in Russia. I also evacuated my team and their families, including our chief operating officer, Ivan Cherkasov, and our head of research, Vadim Kleiner, to London. This evacuation turned out to be prescient.


Eighteen months later, our office in Moscow was raided by dozens of officers from the Russian Interior Ministry, led by one Lt. Col. Artem Kuznetsov. At the same time, the Interior Ministry also raided my lawyers’ office in Moscow. The items they seized included the seals and certificates for our investment holding companies, which proved our ownership. (The seals were mechanical devices used to make embossed impressions on paperwork—you couldn’t do any company business without them.) These were then passed to Maj. Pavel Karpov, also at the Interior Ministry. While these items were in his custody, they were used to fraudulently re-register the ownership of our investment holding companies to a group of violent ex-convicts.


Because we’d liquidated our assets, these holding companies were empty, so their theft wasn’t a major financial blow. I might have left it at that, but the Russian authorities had opened a criminal case against my colleague Ivan Cherkasov as a pretext for the raids. If Ivan had still lived in Russia, this case would have been disastrous for him. He would surely have been arrested and detained. However, even if he was safe in London, we still had to defend him, or it would come back to bite him.
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To do so, we hired a team of Russian defense lawyers. Working together, they quickly found evidence proving that the case against Ivan had been fabricated.


In the process, though, our lawyers made a shocking discovery. The people who had stolen our holding companies had also forged documents to claim those companies owed $1 billion to three empty shell companies. The shell companies then sued our stolen companies in three separate Russian courts for that fictitious $1 billion. Lawyers working for the criminals represented both plaintiffs and defendants, who pleaded guilty. Corrupt judges then approved the fraudulent claims with no questions asked in five-minute hearings.


We didn’t know what they would do with these fraudulent claims, but because corrupt police officers were involved in this case, we hoped that once we reported them to Russian law enforcement, they and their criminal partners would be arrested and prosecuted, and the case against Ivan would be closed.


In early December 2007, we filed three separate criminal complaints in Russia, naming the officers involved in the fraud, including Kuznetsov and Karpov. However, instead of launching a real investigation, the Interior Ministry assigned Karpov to the case, effectively to investigate himself. His first “investigative action” was to initiate a criminal case against me. He subsequently placed me on Russia’s domestic wanted list.


The more our lawyers dug, the worse things got. In June 2008, one of them, Sergei Magnitsky, discovered that the criminals had used our stolen companies and their fake claims to apply for a fraudulent $230 million tax refund. This was the same amount of taxes our companies paid in 2006 after liquidating our holdings in Russia. The refund request was approved in one day, on Christmas Eve 2007, and paid out two days later. A large portion was wired to an obscure Russian bank called Universal Savings Bank. Altogether, it was the largest tax refund in Russian history.


Universal Savings Bank was owned by a shadowy figure named Dmitry Klyuev, and could hardly even be called a bank. It was ranked as the 920th “largest” in Russia, with only one branch and total capital of $1.5 million. It was more like a shell company specializing in money laundering than a legitimate financial institution.


Our lawyers filed new complaints, hoping for a different response. Maybe the Russian government didn’t care about a foreigner getting ripped off, but certainly they would be offended by the theft of their country’s own money. Instead, there was just more retaliation.


The criminals dispatched two of their associates to London, who went to the DHL office in Lambeth, a neighborhood just across the Thames from Westminster. From there, they sent documents that had been used in the fraud to one of our Russian lawyers in Moscow. They put “Hermitage Capital Management, 2 Golden Square, London, England” as the return address on the package. The goal was to make it appear as if we had sent the fraudulent documents from our office in London to our lawyers in Moscow.


Almost as soon as the package was delivered, the Interior Ministry arrived at our lawyer’s office in Moscow and “seized” the documents.


Afterward, our lawyers were summoned for interrogation by the Interior Ministry. The picture was now crystallizing. Our adversaries were going to frame us for the theft of the $230 million, and our lawyers were on the front line. Two of our lawyers quickly fled Russia for London under cover of night, but one stayed—Sergei Magnitsky. We begged him to leave as well, but he wouldn’t. He believed Russia was changing for the better and that the rule of law would ultimately protect him.


If he was going to stay and fight, he needed reinforcements.


The world is full of defense lawyers, but what we needed was an attack lawyer. As I searched, four separate people gave me the same name: John Moscow. I laughed every time I heard it.


John Moscow had served at the New York District Attorney’s Office for 33 years and was one of their most aggressive prosecutors, having led fights against domestic corruption and international financial crime. He was renowned for being the lead prosecutor against the Bank of Credit and Commerce International, which was at the center of one of the largest money laundering scandals in history. He also led the prosecution against executives at Tyco, a US conglomerate whose CEO and CFO were found guilty of stealing hundreds of millions of corporate funds from the company. In the mid-2000s, John Moscow went into private practice, eventually joining the New York office of the prestigious international law firm BakerHostetler.


I reached out to BakerHostetler in September 2008 to set up a call with John Moscow. His secretary told me that, coincidentally, he was in the UK attending something called the Cambridge Crime Conference. She offered to have him visit us while he was in England.


The man who arrived in our office a few days later didn’t look like the vicious crime fighter everyone talked about. He was below-average height, with gray hair and a lazy eye. His demeanor could only be described as awkward.


I tried to make small talk, but he either didn’t want to or didn’t know how. It was only when I handed him a thick PowerPoint presentation showing the chronology of the fraud that he became animated and started asking questions.
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“This Lieutenant Colonel Kuznetsov,” he said, his finger resting on a picture of the man who’d led the raid on our offices. “We need to prove what happened in the raid, what he took, and where that stuff showed up afterwards.”


“That’s no problem,” I said. “They actually left an inventory of what they seized.”


He smiled. “Is that an official document?”


“It is.” Russia is fastidiously bureaucratic. They keep track of everything.


“That’s helpful.” He flipped through a few more pages of our presentation. “Now, these seals and certificates—”


“Yes, those were used to re-register the companies’ ownership.”


“If this thing ever goes to trial in the US, you’ll need someone who knows Russian law to describe how these corporate seals work. Anyone come to mind?”


I liked the way this guy was thinking. The thought of a trial in America was a lot more than I’d even considered when I first called him.


“I’m sure Sergei Magnitsky would testify,” I said. “He’s one of the smartest lawyers in Russia.”


“Good. The key to any successful prosecution is the quality of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses.”


“Does it bother you that we’d be going up against some really dangerous people?” I asked.


“Bill, I’ve spent a lot of time locking up bad guys. This is what I do.”


I now understood where his reputation came from.


I definitely wanted him on our side.










– 4 – Footprints in the Snow



SUMMER 2008–FALL 2009


On October 2, the Russian Interior Ministry opened criminal cases against the two Hermitage lawyers who’d fled to London. They were each charged with using false powers of attorney for filing criminal complaints about the theft of our companies. They were told that it was illegal for them to represent our companies, since those companies no longer belonged to us. The Interior Ministry was effectively saying that the only person who had the right to report a stolen car was the person who stole it.


This cynicism so offended Sergei that, five days later, and in spite of the obvious danger, he went to the Russian State Investigative Committee (Russia’s version of the FBI) to lay all the facts on the table. In an effort to exonerate his colleagues, he testified that the same criminal group that stole our companies had also stolen the $230 million.I


After his testimony, Sergei made another jaw-dropping discovery. He found documents showing that one year before the $230 million crime, the same criminal group had stolen $107 million of taxes from the Russian Treasury, which had been paid by a different company. If we could show that a similar crime had been committed by the same criminal group a year earlier—a crime that had absolutely nothing to do with us—then it would make it extremely difficult for them to frame us for the $230 million crime. We needed to make this information public as soon as possible.


I called the Moscow bureau chief of BusinessWeek, an Englishman named Jason Bush. I knew him from the Hermitage days, when he’d worked on corruption exposés at companies like Gazprom.


Jason was intrigued and spent several weeks investigating the story. The more he dug, the more shocking it became. The criminal group had sent billions of rubles to shell companies with derelict apartments as their listed addresses. Those companies were often dissolved as soon as the money was transferred out of them.


Before publishing, Jason wanted to speak to the person who had uncovered the scam, so he arranged to meet Sergei in person.


In mid-October, Jason gathered his documents and went to Sergei’s office. Over tea, Jason laid out the files and placed a recorder on the table.


“I’m sorry,” Sergei said, “but I’d prefer if you didn’t record this. I can’t be on the record.”


Jason slipped the recorder back into his jacket pocket. “Understood.”


“I’m a bit scared, to be honest,” Sergei said, almost apologetically.


“Of course, of course.” Jason turned to the work at hand. “Can we begin by looking at these statements, then?”


“Yes.”


They spent the next half hour sifting through the documents. When they got to the ones showing the $107 million tax refund, Jason asked, “Is there any innocent explanation for this?”


“I’ve looked for one,” Sergei said, “but sadly, the most sinister explanation seems to be the only one.”


“So this is another tax rebate fraud, just like with Hermitage?”


“Yes.”


There was no other explanation. The paper trail was definitive. The same criminal group had used the same bank, the same lawyers, the same tax office, the same courts, and the same technique to steal $107 million from the Russian Treasury a year earlier. They had even used some of the same documents, just changing dates and company names.


Jason’s article came out a month later. It created a whole new set of problems for our adversaries. They were now at risk of being exposed not just for the $230 million, but for a separate $107 million fraud as well.


Sixteen days after publication, the Interior Ministry raided Sergei’s home, arresting him in front of his wife, Natasha, and seven-year-old son, Nikita. Lt. Col. Artem Kuznetsov, the same officer who’d led the raid on our office and whom Sergei had testified against, was assigned to carry out Sergei’s arrest.


Up until then, our problems with the Russians had been virtual. But now they had a real-life hostage.


One of my first calls was to John Moscow.


He was sympathetic, but understood the criminal mindset better than most. “They’ll use him as a bargaining chip,” he said. “Does he have a wife? Does he have kids?”


“Yeah, we’re going to support them with lawyers and whatever we need to do.”


“You’re not planning on going back there ever, are you?”


“No. Of course not.”


“Okay, because we’re going to be saying things about these people which will make you less than socially acceptable.”


“Yeah,” I said.


He then laid out his strategy. “I want to know who got the money. Do you remember Jerry Maguire? The movie? ‘Show me the money.’ ”


“But the problem is the money got sent from one bank to another to another,” I said. “How’re we going to get all the way through the trail?”


“Because if it’s in dollars, it’s in New York.”


He explained that we could trace these dollars by using something called a 1782 subpoena. I’d never heard of it, but it sounded promising. His idea was to take advantage of a little-known feature of the international banking system: whenever money is transferred in dollars—even between two banks in Russia—it touches a US clearing bank for a fraction of a second, leaving a permanent record. Those clearing banks are headquartered in Manhattan and under the jurisdiction of US courts. If we subpoenaed those banks and got their records, we could use that information to begin to reconstruct the money trail.


“We’re just going to do it step by step,” he said confidently.


“Right.”


“The good news is the money is big enough so it should be traceable. One million these days could be delivered in cash, and there you’re just out of luck in terms of evidence.”


“But this is two hundred and thirty million, so there’s—”


“Yeah,” he said, cutting me off. “Harder to walk across a field of snow with two hundred and thirty million dollars and not leave a footprint.”


His approach was shrewd. If we could find out who had received the money, we’d have leverage to get Sergei out of jail.


But then, on December 11, Bernie Madoff was charged in New York with running the world’s largest Ponzi scheme, defrauding investors in his hedge fund of an astonishing $64.8 billion. Why mention Madoff here? Because this scandal was oddly connected to our story.


It was right around this time that John Moscow became almost impossible to reach. I would call him, and sometimes it would take weeks for him to respond. Other times he simply never called back.


At first, I was confused. We’ve all had friends who’ve stopped speaking to us for unknown reasons, but John Moscow wasn’t a friend. He was my lawyer and I was his client, and I was paying him $600 an hour. My confusion quickly grew into frustration since we needed him. Sergei needed him. When he continued to ignore my calls, my frustration grew to outright anger. It was one of the strangest things I’d ever seen a lawyer do. It was like being ghosted by a teenage crush.


Sometime in January, it all became clear. John Moscow’s law firm, BakerHostetler, had become the trustee responsible for unwinding the Madoff bankruptcy. The rumor was that BakerHostetler was going to earn $100 million for this work. (At the time of writing, BakerHosteler has actually earned upward of $1.4 billion for its work on the Madoff bankruptcy.) Next to that, our paltry $200,000 in legal fees wasn’t even a rounding error.


Lawyers, unlike businesspeople, are supposed to be professionals. I had naïvely assumed that once hired, a lawyer, like a doctor, was duty-bound to advocate for their client no matter what. A doctor doesn’t drop a patient because another patient might pay them more for a more elaborate procedure. They treat both patients. The same should be true for lawyers.


What made his conduct even worse was that by the late spring of 2009, we were getting bits and pieces of news that Sergei was being tortured in detention. Sergei’s jailers put him in cells with 14 inmates and eight beds and kept the lights on 24 hours a day to impose sleep deprivation. They put him in cells with no heat and no windowpanes in the winter in Moscow, where he nearly froze to death. They put him in cells with no toilet, just a hole in the floor, where the sewage would bubble up.


His hostage-takers seemed to have two objectives. One was to compel him to drop his testimony against Kuznetsov and Karpov. The other was to force him to sign a false confession saying that he had stolen the $230 million and had done so at my direction.


Sergei was a white-collar lawyer who wore a blue suit and a red tie during the week and enjoyed classical music at the conservatory with his wife and son on the weekend. His torturers surely thought that even the slightest amount of pressure would cause him to buckle. But they misjudged him. For Sergei, the idea of perjuring himself and bearing false witness was more painful than any physical torture they subjected him to. He refused to break.


The torture did affect him, though. After seven months, his health had seriously deteriorated. He’d lost nearly 40 pounds and was suffering from excruciating stomach pains.


We were getting more and more desperate. We had to get him out of jail. We did everything we could think of. We contacted the International Bar Association, the UK Law Society, the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe, and many other organizations. Many intervened on Sergei’s behalf, but as far as the Russians were concerned this was just noise they could easily ignore. I’d never felt more powerless in my life.


We needed to find that $230 million.


Before John Moscow ghosted us, he had prepared the 1782 subpoena to be served on the two clearing banks that had performed the dollar payments of the tax rebate fraud: JPMorgan and Citibank. It was time to submit them to the court.


We hired a new law firm to file the subpoenas. By then, Sergei had become seriously ill. He had been diagnosed with pancreatitis and gallstones, and needed an operation, which was scheduled for August 1, 2009.


One week before his operation, his hostage-takers returned to his cell and again tried to coerce him into signing a false confession. Again, he refused. In retaliation, they moved him from a pretrial detention center with a medical wing to a maximum-security jail called Butyrka—a hellhole considered to be one of the worst in Russia. Most significantly for Sergei, Butyrka had no proper medical facilities. There, his health completely broke down. He went into constant, agonizing pain, and was refused all medical treatment.


Our new US lawyers filed the subpoenas with the court on July 28, and the judge quickly granted them.


Two weeks later, as Sergei languished at Butyrka, JPMorgan and Citibank sent us their responses. We were hopeful, but soon realized their responses were horribly incomplete. Both banks had missed entire categories of information and skipped over key time periods, making it impossible for us to get any closer to discovering who had actually received any of the stolen money.


Our lawyers went back to the banks, demanding they do the job properly, but this would take time, and Sergei was running out of time.


We had one last reason to hold on to hope, though. Under Russian law, a person could only be kept in pretrial detention for one year. After 365 days, the Russian government either had to put the defendant on trial or release them. But in Sergei’s case, they couldn’t risk a trial. If they did, he would have had an international platform to expose the $230 million fraud, the $107 million fraud before it, and all the Russian government officials involved. The court could find him guilty—and it would—but that wouldn’t silence him.


They had to silence him.


On the night of November 16, 2009, 358 days after his arrest, Sergei went into critical condition. The Butyrka authorities didn’t want to have responsibility for him anymore, so they put him in an ambulance and transferred him to a different detention center across town, which had a medical wing. But when he arrived there, instead of putting him in the emergency room, they put him in an isolation cell, chained him to a bed, and eight riot guards with rubber batons beat Sergei until he was dead.


He was only 37 years old.




	
I. This was his second trip to the State Investigative Committee. During his first, in June 2008, he testified against Karpov and Kuznetsov for their role in the theft of Hermitage’s investment holding companies, mentioning the two Interior Ministry officers by name 27 times.
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I got the call at 7:45 a.m. the next morning.


That call remains the most heartbreaking, traumatic, and devastating moment of my life. Nothing had prepared me for losing a colleague in this way. Sergei had been killed because he had tried to do the right thing. He’d been killed because he’d worked for me. The guilt I felt and continue to feel permeates every cell of my body.


When I was able to clear my mind from the fog of hysteria and sorrow, there was only one thing for me to do—put aside everything else in my life and devote all of my time, all of my resources, and all of my energy to making sure that anyone involved in Sergei’s false arrest, torture, and murder, as well as anyone who had received any of the $230 million, would face justice.


Since then, that is precisely what I’ve done.


After Sergei’s murder, we peppered every law enforcement agency in Russia with criminal complaints demanding justice. We had a mountain of evidence. In the 358 days that Sergei was held in custody, he and his lawyers wrote 450 complaints documenting his abuse and mistreatment. His lawyers had provided us with copies of these, and put together, they constituted the most well-documented case of human rights abuse that had come out of Russia in the previous 35 years. The Russians would have to do something.


Only they didn’t. Instead, the entire system closed ranks and the Russian authorities embarked on a full-scale cover-up. Less than 24 hours after Sergei’s murder, the Interior Ministry changed the cause of death from “toxic shock” to “heart failure.” The government then refused his family’s request for an independent autopsy and denied that Sergei had ever been sick. These lies, along with many others, were repeated from the lowest official right up to the top of the Russian government.


We soon received more details on the cover-up. Two weeks after Sergei’s murder, one of Russia’s top investigative journalists, Yevgenia Albats, the senior editor of the New Times Magazine, reported that a $6 million cash bribe had been paid to officials at the FSB, the successor agency to the Soviet KGB, to arrest Sergei and cover up the $230 million fraud.


Sergei had been murdered for money, plain and simple. We needed to go back to JPMorgan and Citibank and get them to come clean. This wasn’t just dirty money anymore, it was blood money.


This time the banks took us seriously and sent us every single dollar payment for dozens of banks in Russia and the former Soviet Union over a 28-month period. It was a windfall. In all, we received a database with over 1.3 million transactions from multiple Russian banks.


Initially, we thought this would be the key to unlocking the money laundering mystery, but when we started looking at it, we realized it was actually too much information. We had tens of thousands of company names, account numbers, and amounts, but absolutely no context.


Without some sort of roadmap linking this data to the $230 million fraud, we were lost.


We pivoted. Without a sophisticated way to determine who had received the dirty money, we focused on the most visible perpetrators in Russia: Maj. Pavel Karpov, Lt. Col. Artem Kuznetsov, and Dmitry Klyuev, the owner of Universal Savings Bank, where a lot of the money had been wired following the crime.


We no longer had a money laundering expert like John Moscow on our team, but that didn’t mean we were neophytes when it came to financial sleuthing, especially in Russia. Forensic research had been a large part of our business model at the Hermitage Fund, and it didn’t feel like a big leap to apply it here.


Aside from our experience, we had two other assets working in our favor: my colleague Vadim Kleiner, and the fact that, in Russia, data protection is virtually nonexistent.
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Vadim had been an equity analyst at the Hermitage Fund since its inception. He was a Muscovite, six years my junior, with an economics PhD, glasses, and a dark beard. If you spotted him at a cocktail party or conference, you’d probably tag him as an academic or journalist. But Vadim was a top investment analyst, and because of the way we did business, over time he had morphed into one of the world’s best forensic financial investigators. This is not hyperbole. Anyone who has ever met Vadim would confirm it. He’s a true genius.


Luckily for Vadim, there was a bounty of information for him to work with. While many think of Russia as being completely opaque, it’s actually quite transparent. Every time someone does something in Russia, that information gets filed in quadruplicate with four different ministries. The people working at those ministries make only a few hundred dollars a month. As a result, nearly everything is for sale.


Most of this data ends up at the physical epicenter of Russia’s information market, a low-end shopping mall just west of the Moskva River called Gorbushka. Inside is a chaotic hodgepodge of kiosks selling everything from pirated Fast and Furious DVDs to Star Wars figures to Chinese cell phones. But if you go into the back of some of these stalls, you’ll find disks of government databases for sale. They contain things like salary information, cell phone registries, and travel records, and the most you have to pay for any of these is a few dollars.
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Gorbushka Market, Moscow. (© HERMITAGE)





At the higher end of the information market were specialized brokers who had nothing to do with Gorbushka. They sold more sophisticated databases like those belonging to the Russian Central Bank or the State Customs Committee. Back when I was running the Hermitage Fund, Vadim and I used these sources to ferret out multibillion-dollar scams at the companies we invested in. Now that we were conducting a money laundering investigation, these resources became invaluable in a completely different way.


Dmitry Klyuev, the owner of Universal Savings Bank, was initially elusive. But the Interior Ministry officers, Pavel Karpov and Artem Kuznetsov, were not. Shortly after the $230 million was stolen, they went on un-self-conscious spending sprees. They bought Porsches, Mercedes, and Audis for themselves and their family members, and took 5-star holidays to places like Milan, Madrid, London, and Paris. They also lived in multimillion-dollar condominiums in Moscow. They seemed totally unconcerned that their $15,000-a-year salaries couldn’t have supported these lavish lifestyles. They were caricatures of corrupt Russian cops.


We made a pair of YouTube videos about Karpov and Kuznetsov, in both English and Russian, which went viral right away, especially in Russia.


In addition to the outrage created among ordinary Russians, these exposés provided us with an unexpected windfall: a Russian whistleblower named Alexander Perepilichnyy.


Perepilichnyy was a financial advisor, and two of his clients had been Olga Stepanova, the tax official who had approved the bulk of the $230 million refund, as well as her husband, Vladlen. Perepilichnyy had helped the Stepanovs set up and manage their Swiss bank accounts. In the 2008–2009 financial crisis, his investment advice led to big losses. Instead of accepting these, the Stepanovs accused Perepilichnyy of stealing their money. They then threatened him with criminal investigations in Russia. To avoid this trouble, he’d fled to London with his family.
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Alexander Perepilichnyy.





As the Stepanovs’ financial advisor, Perepilichnyy had evidence showing that $11 million from the $230 million crime had gone to Vladlen Stepanov’s account at Credit Suisse in Zurich. Perepilichnyy wanted to share this evidence with us not because he was shocked by their corruption, but because he hoped that by publicizing this information, it might create such a scandal in Russia that the Stepanovs would be prosecuted, lose their power, and make the legal threats against Perepilichnyy disappear.


Perepilichnyy showed us the bank statements for two shell companies containing the $11 million at Credit Suisse. With these, we finally had the beginnings of a roadmap to orient ourselves in the clearing bank data.


When Vadim ran these company names through this database, both popped up. These each led to another shell company. And another, and another. Vadim was ultimately able to trace the path of this $11 million from the Russian Treasury, to Universal Savings Bank, through Moldova and Latvia, and into Switzerland.


As John Moscow had promised, every dollar transfer touched New York for a split second. And even though that money went through 11 different steps, our database picked it up.


If our adversaries thought they’d obscured their footprints in the snow by laundering the money through so many countries and accounts, they were wrong. We’d discovered the power of our dollar payment database, and this wouldn’t be the last time we would use it.
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